
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Susan Gardner, Scrutiny & Policy Officer,  
Email:  susan.gardner@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Monday, 2 March 2026 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Monday, 9 March 2026 at 4.00 pm, 
Queen Elizabeth Room, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Stephen Button (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Jodi Clements, Clare Yates, Clare McKenna, Mike Booth, David Heap, Loraine Cox and 
Tina Walker 
 
Cooptees: Sandie Dent, Jackie Rawstron, Jean Battle and Matthew Shaw 
 

A G E N D A 
 
  
1.   Apologies for Absence and Substitutions   

 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   

 
 

 
3.   Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 10) 

 
The Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 1st December 2025, are submitted 
for approval as a correct record. 
  
Recommended               -  That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
  
  

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
4.   Chair's Update   

 
 

 
5.   Active Wellbeing Services   

 
To scrutinise the provision and impact of physical activity and health improvement 
initiatives on the borough’s wellbeing. 
  
Presented by Lyndsey Sims and Joanne Mortimer 
 

 
6.   Access to Swimming Lessons in the Borough   

 
To review the availability, cost and accessibility of swimming lessons provided by 
Hyndburn Leisure Trust. 
  
Presented by Linda Horsfield 
 

 
7.   Oswaldtwistle Civic Theatre  (Pages 11 - 14) 

 
To update the Committee on work being undertaken to progress plans to allow 
the reopening of the Oswaldtwistle Civic Arts Centre and Theatre. 
  
Kirsten Burnett and Nathalie McCann 
 

 
 



 

 
1 

 
COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 
 

Monday, 1st December, 2025 
 

Present:  Councillor Stephen Button (in the Chair),  
Councillors Jodi Clements (Vice Chair), Clare Yates, Clare McKenna, 
Mike Booth, Tina Walker and Judith Addison 
Co-optees Sandie Dent and Shaw 
 

In Attendance: Councillor M. Fisher – Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Health and Social Care 
Sarah Whittaker – Regeneration Manager 
Justine Williams – Chief Executive of Citizens Advice East Lancashire 
Nick Pilling – Vice Chair of Citizens Advice East Lancashire 
Justine Williams – Chief Executive Citizens Advice East Lancashire 
Pick Pilling – Vice Chair Citizens Advice East Lancashire 

  
Apologies: Councillors David Heap, Loraine Cox, Rawstron and Jean Battle 

 
 
176 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Heap, L. Cox, Jean Battle 
and Jackie Rawstrone. 
 
Councillor Addison acted as substitute representative for Councillor Heap. 
 

177 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Fisher and Matthew Shaw (Co-optee) declared a personal interest in item 4 – 
Disabled Facilities Grants, due to both being employees of Lancashire County Council who 
allocate funding to Hyndburn Borough Council.  Both remained in the meeting and took part 
in debate. 
 

178 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny Committee of the 
meeting held 13th October 2025 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

179 Disabled Facilities Grants 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, Councillor Melissa Fisher, and 
the Regeneration Manager, Sarah Whittaker, submitted a report to update the Committee 
on Disabled Facilities Grants, the process, the funding received and what is delivered with 
the funding.  The report also updated the Committee on the current programme and waiting 
list times. 
  
The Regeneration Manager explained that Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) were: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

  
         Mandatory grants and delivered under the Housing Grants, Construction and 

Regeneration Act 1996.   
         The Act gave local authorities a legal duty to award grants where the criteria had 

been met and allowed for a maximum amount to be set by the regulations.   
         The current maximum grant had been set at £30,000 which had been in force 

since 2008 and no longer covered the full cost of an extension.  
         The aim of providing grants was to enable a disabled person to remain in their own 

home. 
         Applicants had the choice of the Council managing works on their behalf or for self-

management.  
         Funding for the DFG programme became part of the Better Care Fund (BCF) in 

2015/16 meaning that funding was no longer paid directly to the Local Authorities 
but was paid to Lancashire County Council before being distributed to individual 
Local Authorities.  

         The allocation of funding to Hyndburn in 2025/26 was £1,359,906.  Hyndburn 
Council carried forward £357,069 from 2024/25 and had a total of £1,716,975 for 
2025/26.   

         Hyndburn Council had the authority to produce its own grant policies and 
introduced several types of grants including Discretionary DFGs, which had 
removed the need for a means test for any items under £7,500 and introduced an 
additional £20,000 top up if people were on a low income or had low savings.  
Several other grant types were also introduced to enable and encourage more 
people to apply for grants.  

         The policy had been reviewed again in April 2025 when the upper limit for some 
grants had been changed, taking the amount before means testing, from £7,500 to 
£10,000.   

         Fees for non-agency grants had also been introduced (7.5% + VAT) giving the 
Council greater opportunity to offer more support to those carrying out works 
themselves. 

         218 projects were in operation and all were bespoke. 
         Occupational Therapists and Trusted Assessors were able to prescribe works. 
         The number of applications had increased as there was now greater awareness of 

the grants. 

  
The Regeneration Manager referred to appendix 1 of the report – ‘Better Care Fund 
Allocations and Performance to end October 2025, DFG Current Performance to end 
October 2025 and Performance in previous years’ and explained that it was incorrect and 
that a new appendix would be circulated to Members after the meeting.   
  
Advanced Questions 
  
Questions were submitted in advance of the meeting.  A summary of the responses was 
provided as follows: 
  
1.   Does the grant funding need to be paid back if the owner dies or moves?  Is the 

equipment recycled or reused? 

The DFG is a Grant for equipment, to that particular person, and belongs to them. If they 
move the equipment could be taken with them.   

  
If a grant is awarded to fund an extension on an owner/occupied property, a charge of 
£10,000 will be recorded against the property on the Land Registry.  The Council may 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
3 

ask the owner to repay some or all of this if they move within 10 years of the grant being 
approved.  However, discretion is exercised. 
  

2.   Could you provide details of where the main demand for Disabled Facility Grants comes 
from.  Why is there a waiting list? 

Almost all, of our DFG referrals come from either Lancashire County Council’s (LCC) 
Social Services, or the Integrated Therapy Team within the NHS, and occasionally from 
private Occupational Therapist’s.  Requests for disabled facility grants cannot be 
processed without a referral from a medical professional. A DFG is a 2-part process, the 
OT states what is necessary and appropriate for the disabled person, then the Technical 
Officer has to assess what is reasonable and practicable within the property.   
  
There is a waiting list because we do not have the staff capacity to process the grants 
any faster. 
  
  

3.   Appendix 1 refers to performance and spend in previous years to date.  Members 
understand that several years ago there had been an underspend of grant funding and 
this was carried forward but are confused about the financial data provided.  Could you 
clarify how much has been carried forward each year and the amount spent to give the 
difference between spend and allocation please? 

Please see revised Appendix 1 with the allocations, outturn and slippage. Hopefully this 
will explain the situation more clearly now. 
  

4.   The Affordable Warmth grant was underspent last year.  Could you explain why? 

For clarification, all of the grants mentioned are funded through the Better Care Funding 
pot.  All of these can have the amounts allocated to them altered to meet the demands of 
the programme , and spend is maximized over the whole programme.  DFGs are the 
mandatory grants that we have to provide, the other grants are not mandatory and we 
can remove money from them to divert to the DFGs.  There is also an affordable warmth 
grant which is funded via LCC, this falls outside of this funding as it is the CHIL scheme 
and a Lancashire wide scheme.  We have received an additional £30,000 this year from 
underspends in the Lancashire wide scheme which I need to add into the funding pot, 
the figures here do not currently reflect that money. 
  

5.   How long does it take, on average, from the submission of an application to the 
completion of works? What is the time scale on an installation or alteration? 

  
This varies depending upon the type of works but from the date that we receive a 
completed application form, the typical time scales for starting the work are: 

  
Stairlifts                              4 – 8 weeks 
Step lifts                             8 – 12 weeks 
Vertical lifts                         8 – 12 weeks  
Showers and baths            4 – 18 weeks 
Specialist baths                  3 -  4 months 
Extensions                         6 – 12 months. 

  
Some can be quicker than this, and some can be slower, this all depends upon if people 
end up in hospital, or contractors get private work.   
  
The installation times vary but as a guide some typical time scales for the work are: 

  

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Stairlifts      ½ day, although preliminary works may be needed. 
Step lifts     5 – 10 working days, but additional works make be required 
Vertical lifts 5 working days, but additional works make be required 
Showers     5 to 7 working days 
Extensions 3 months construction. 

  
6.   There are several grant types, if funding allocated to one grant is more popular than 

another, could the funding be transferred to another grant? 

Yes - see answer to Q2. However, the allocation to the LCC Respite Centre Great 
Harwood is a one-off payment that needs to be made and the amount will not change.  
  

7.   Committee Members are concerned that grants are not reaching those who require 
them.  What action does the Council take to ensure grants are advertised? 

Disabled Facilities Grants do not need to be advertised as there is a large waiting list.  
  

8.   Are there many grant applications that require the maximum amount of £30k and does 
the maximum amount need to be increased? 

Last year we completed 9 DFGs over £30,000.  These grants invariably take the longest 
to complete because we also have to assist the applicants in finding the rest of the 
funding for their adaptations to go ahead.  We are now working on the basis of getting 
preliminary approval from LCC prior to us getting the actual prices for the work because 
if they will not fund it then we need to look at funding from elsewhere.  
  
The maximum DFG of £30,000 is not sufficient now to carry out complex adaptations, 
however, should this amount increase it would also mean that the funding for DFGs 
would need to increase or we would not be able to do as many DFGs.  Currently 
anything over £30,000 (or £50,000 if people are eligible for the Discretionary £20,000) 
other means have to be found to pay for it and it does not come from the DFG pot.  This 
is a national problem.  
  

9.   Is there an assessment of future needs by an OT before there is approval of an 
installation or works? 

  
Yes.  The OT, if carrying out an assessment for a child will look at the needs of that child 
up to age 18 based on the medical conditions that they have and the prognosis for future 
needs. When the assessment is done for adults it takes into account any potential 
recovery that may be made following rehabilitation based on current prognosis, and also 
the possible deterioration of someone. 

  
10.   Who does a person contact to discuss needs prior to the work to be undertaken? 

Lancashire County Council can be contacted on 0300 123 6720 and they will carry out 
an OT assessment which will inform HBC of the needs of the disabled person.   Or they 
can carry out a needs assessment by completing an on line form at Lancashire and 
South Cumbria - AskSARA.  
  
Christine Brown is the Council’s Adaptations Officer and can be contacted to discuss 
the whole DFG process.  She can be contacted on 01254 380153 or 
Christine.brown@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 

  
11.   What sort of work is most likely to have been completed by HBC in the past? 

(We see handrails and ramps in our wards, stair lifts were mentioned and wet rooms). 
  

Page 6

https://lancashireandsouthcumbria.livingmadeeasy.org.uk/
https://lancashireandsouthcumbria.livingmadeeasy.org.uk/
mailto:Christine.brown@hyndburnbc.gov.uk


 
 
 

 

 
5 

The DFG is given for any adaptation that facilitates access to the home, makes the 
dwelling safe, improves heating, gives access to essential amenities including the 
garden for the disabled occupant.  The adaptations can be anything from handrails, to 
an extension for a downstairs bedroom and bathroom, and anything in between.  We 
now also get referrals for autism or pika (where people eat masonry, plaster, wiring), 
which involves creating safe spaces, or spaces where the walls or fittings cannot be 
eaten by the disabled person.  Below is a list of the type of grants and numbers of 
items fitted in 2024/25 via the DFG programme. This is much more extensive now and 
more complex than just the traditional stairlifts, ramps and level access showers. 
  
  

Type of installation   Number 
Rails   2 
Access to Garden   7 
Through Floor Lift   4 
Level Access Shower   69 
Wash dry toilet   7 
Extension   3 
Stairlift   35 
Steplift   5 
Automatic Doors   2 
Hoists   10 
Wash pod   1 
Bath   1 
Ramp   18 
Padding   2 
Door widening   8 

Total number of the different types of installations   174 
  
Members raised several comments and questions regarding Disabled Facilities Grants 
(DFGs): 
Members submitted comments and questions as follows: 
  

         Demand for adaptations was increasing whilst funding was reducing. 
         The Committee was advised that Homewise was able to supply disabled facility 

equipment such as walking frames and also able to provide the services of Trusted 
Assessors. 

         Matthew Shaw gave details of the process for minor adaptations (dealt with by 
Social Services) and pointed out that small changes often made a big difference.  
He also advised that the process of adaptation was more straightforward if the 
person had been in hospital. 

Sarah Whittaker explained that they had to act quickly once quotes for works were 
received, as they did not last long, so they worked with Lancashire County Council to obtain 
an agreement in principle so that planned works could be progressed.  She reported that a 
further issue was that the maximum disabled facility grant was £30k and this no longer 
covered the cost of building an extension, so home-owners/landlords, were not always able 
to continue with the adaptation due to the total cost not being covered through 
contributions. 
  

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
6 

She referred to the different types of grants that could be applied for, including small 
grants.  She reminded the Committee that grants over £30k were means-tested and that 
adaptations may also require planning permission but that the Council was flexible and 
would work with families to ensure the best outcome. 
  
The Regeneration Manager was thanked for her hard work. 
  
Resolved                    -  That the report be noted. 
 

180 Citizens Advice 
 
Justine Williams (CEO) and Nick Pilling (Vice-Chair of Citizens Advice East Lancashire) 
were in attendance at the meeting to give a presentation on the services they provided in 
Hyndburn and East Lancashire.  
  
Justine Williams delivered an update on the services of Citizens Advice, including in the 
Hyndburn area: 

 Organisation overview:  
o Citizens Advice is a network of 280 local charities operating across 1,600 

locations in England and Wales. 
o Each local office is responsible for securing its own funding. 

 Service delivery channels:  
o Phone, email, webchat and face-to-face appointments. 

 Citizens Advice East Lancashire:  
o A merged organisation covering Rossendale, Ribble Valley, Hyndburn, 

Burnley and Pendle. 
o Staff team includes 45 paid staff and 40 volunteers, including Trustee 

Board members. 
 Hyndburn services:  

o Drop-in sessions, including at the New Era Centre. 
o Adviceline telephone service and digital advice options. 
o Team includes 6 volunteers and 8 paid staff. 
o Monthly community drop-ins at Rhyddings Family Hub. 

 Project delivery in Hyndburn includes:  
o British Gas Energy drop-ins 
o Macmillan advice service for cancer patients 
o Specialist debt advice (by appointment) 
o HMRC service support (drop-in and by appointment) 

 Accessibility:  
o Hyndburn residents can use any Citizens Advice East Lancashire office or 

community drop-in location. 
 Partnership work:  

o Collaboration with Hyndburn Borough Council to deliver the Household 
Support Fund. 

 Volunteer training:  
o The organisation is part of a national pilot introducing a new streamlined 

learning pathway to improve volunteer capacity. 
Impact in Hyndburn (April–September 2025) 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
7 

 573 clients supported face to face 
 850 clients supported via phone or WhatsApp 
 250 clients and partners used the online contact form 
 £620,000 generated in benefit gains, grants and budgeting-related savings 
 £360,000 of debt written off 
 A Hyndburn case study was presented (details noted). 
 For every £1 of the £25,000 core contribution from Hyndburn Council, residents 

received £39 in value. 
  

Members submitted the following comments and queries: 
  

         Concern that working people were also finding the cost of living difficult and were, 
increasingly, facing mounting debt.  The Committee noted that these people would 
benefit from being able to receive professional advice from Citizens Advice but 
would only be able to attend services in the evening or at weekends. 

         Request for further details about how Whatsapp worked. 
         Where Citizens Advice received their funding from. 
         There was increasing debt mounting problems and financial pressure on 

households. 
  

Responses to the above issues were as follows: 
  

         Citizens Advice East Lancashire already had plans to extend services to rural 
areas.  Additional provision of out of hours services would depend on funding in 
relation to the cost and provision of staff. 

         The Committee would be provided with more information on the use of Whatsapp 
within service provision.   

         Citizens Advice thanked the Council for their annual contributions and referred to 
the importance of this in keeping services available to residents in Hyndburn.  She 
reported that most of the organisation’s funding came from project funding and 
from local contributions from local authorities. 

  
Resolved               -  That the Communities and Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee recommend that Cabinet agree to provide a 
minimum grant in line with previous years (£25,000) to 
Citizens Advice East Lancashire, in its 2026/27 Budget 
Proposals and that it further considers an increase on this 
amount to £30,000, due to the rise in costs and the 
Committee proposing the provision of out of hours 
services. 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
8 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 

Page 10



Page 1 of 3 
 

REPORT TO: Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

DATE: 09 March 2026 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP - Leader of the 
Council  

REPORT AUTHOR: Kirsten Burnett, Head of Policy and OD 

TITLE OF REPORT: Oswaldtwistle Civic Arts Centre and Theatre 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To update the Committee on work being undertaken to progress plans to allow the 

reopening of the Oswaldtwistle Civic Arts Centre and Theatre. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report. 
 
2.2 That any questions are put forward in advance of the meeting to enable the relevant 

officers to provide responses. 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Oswaldtwistle Civic Arts Centre and Theatre is a historic building that has served the 

community for over 150 years.  It comprises an original Victorian two-storey 
administrative block, situated on Union Street, that was expanded in 1890 to provide a 
new public hall with ballroom at first floor level.  The extended building, which became 
known as the Town Hall, is believed to have been designed by the town surveyor, Robert 
Naisbitt Hunter and built to celebrate the Queen Victoria’s Golden Jubilee.  The building 
has had many community uses during its lifetime, including as a mixed ballroom, hall 
and theatre space, the town fire station, a recruiting station for the First World War, the 
headquarters of the town council, and as additional class facilities for a local school. 

 
3.2 In 2010 the building was refurbished and reopened as an arts centre and studio space 

on the ground floor with a c.450 seat theatre on the upper level.  Charitable organisation, 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7.



Page 2 of 3 
 

Hyndburn Arts Limited took over the running of the arts centre and studio, with the theatre 
initially under separate management.  The theatre was brought under the charity’s 
operation in 2015 and it was responsible for repairs and maintenance of the building. 

 
3.3 The venue closed suddenly in July 2023 after Hyndburn Arts Limited, the charity that 

had managed the theatre for 13 years, went into liquidation.  The charity was officially 
dissolved in September of that year and the theatre handed back to Hyndburn Council.   

 
3.4 A series of initial health and safety, and conditions surveys on the building, determined 

that the building requires significant investment to carry out necessary repair and 
upgrade works, including new lighting and heating throughout. 

 
3.5 The Council has demonstrated substantial financial commitment to securing the venue's 

future.  Capital allocations include £267,000 for refurbishment works (approved in the 
2024/25 Capital Programme), with a further £250,000 allocated in 2025/26.  This gives 
a total capital budget of £517,000.  

 
3.6 The Council successfully applied to the Theatre Trust to have Oswaldtwistle Civic Arts 

Centre and Theatre selected as one of ten recipients of their Resilient Theatres: Resilient 
Communities programme, securing a £10,000 grant to undertake essential roof survey 
work.  This external recognition underscores both the building's significance and the 
Council's proactive approach to its restoration.  

 
3.7 The detailed roof survey has now been completed, and the tender process for roofing 

contractors commenced in late 2025.  Rosslee Construction have been appointed and it 
is proposed that works will commence on site from Monday 27 April 2026.  The roofing 
works are anticipated to run for 25 weeks, bringing planned completion of the project to 
mid-October 2026. 

 
3.8 Rosslee Construction await a final scaffold design from their scaffolding contractor.  

Once received and finalised, this information can be shared with neighbouring properties 
as part of the party wall notices. 

 
3.9 Bringing the venue back into use features in the Council's Culture and Heritage Strategy 

2025-30, demonstrating its strategic significance to our cultural regeneration priorities.  
It is specifically referenced both as a key heritage asset (section 2.5) and as a dedicated 
action within Strategic Objective 3, which commits the Council to "advance the 
Oswaldtwistle Civic Theatre and Arts Centre's funding and future development, 
leveraging its place on the Theatres at Risk Register." 

 
3.10 The Council is actively exploring options for phased community use of the building at the 

earliest opportunity, recognising that some areas (potentially the ground floor spaces) 
may be suitable for activation while essential structural works continue on other parts of 
the building.  This approach would enable us to begin restoring the venue's role as a 
community cultural hub while ensuring the building can be made structurally sound and 
sustainable for long-term use. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

Page 12



Page 3 of 3 
 

4.1 N/a 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Cabinet have agreed to form a working group, recognising the significant local interest 

in this venue.  This will be progressed once the work on the roof is nearing completion 
and the Council is in a position to actively consider potential uses and tenants. 

 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The Council has set aside capital funding 
totalling £517,000. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

N/a – update report 

Assessment of risk 
 

N/a – update report 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

N/a for this report. 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None  
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 

Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000. 

Page 13

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Last Meeting
	7. Oswaldtwistle Civic Theatre

